1988

# William R. Kelley v. Leucadia Financial Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This appeal is from the Order of Partial Summary Judgment signed by the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson on February 1, 1988, the Final Judgment and Decree of Specific Performance, signed by the Honorable Pat B. Brian on May 6, 1988 and the Order, signed by the Honorable Pat B. Brian on May 6, 1988. All of these orders and judgments were entered in the Third Judicial District Court for Summit County, Utah. This appeal was filed on June 3, 1988 with the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated (1988). On August 22, 1988, the Supreme Court notified the parties that the case was poured-over to the Court of Appeals for disposition.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in ordering specific performance where plaintiff Kelley's tender of performance was defective because conditional and therefore insufficient to enable Kelley to bring this action?
2. Did the trial court err in ordering specific performance where an unconditional tender of performance was not made by the closing date?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Respondent William R. Kelley, Jr. ("Kelley") commenced this action in the Third Judicial District Court on September 22, 1987, against Defendant-Appellant First Security Mortgage Company ("First Security").<sup>1</sup> In this action, Kelley requested a declaratory judgment for the interpretation of rights, status and legal relationship under an Earnest Money Sales Agreement ("Agreement"), sought a decree of specific performance requiring First Security to convey certain property as contracted in the Agreement, and prayed for damages for breach of the Agreement. (R.1-11)

Thereafter, on November 10, 1987, First Security filed a Motion to Dismiss and for Attorneys' Fees. (R.72-73) In response, Kelley filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on November 27, 1987. (R.137-39) The Court entered its Order granting Kelley Partial Summary Judgment on February 3, 1988. (R.562-64) This Order granted Kelley's request for a decree of specific performance and retained jurisdiction over the matter to determine whether Kelley was entitled to an abatement of the purchase price and damages. (R.562-64) First Security filed a

---

1. First Security was the named defendant when this litigation commenced. By order of the Court, Leucadia Financial Corporation was substituted for First Security and is asserting the rights of First Security in this appeal. (R.844-46)



Motion to Amend Judgment (R.343-344), an Objection to Proposed Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment (R.345-46), and a Motion for Reconsideration (R.907), all of which were denied by the Court.

First Security filed a Motion for Summary Judgment relating to Kelley's claims for punitive damages and on May 6, 1988, the Court entered its Order which, among other things, granted summary judgment in favor of First Security.

(R.812-14) On the same day, the Court found the parties had otherwise settled all claims relating to the amount of damages to be awarded Kelley and entered its Final Judgment and Decree of Specific Performance. (R.815-18) Leucadia Financial Corporation ("Leucadia") was substituted for First Security on June 3, 1988 for purposes of appeal concerning the decree of specific performance and all orders or judgments. (R.844-46) In that capacity, Leucadia filed its notice of appeal on June 3, 1988. (R.847-49)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts before the District Court were not disputed. They are as follows:

##### 1. The Agreement Between The Parties.

On or about February 20, 1987, First Security Mortgage Company, as seller, and William R. Kelley, Jr., as buyer, executed an Earnest Money Sales Agreement for the purchase of

real property, a copy of which is Appendix 1 to this brief.

(R.14-22) Pursuant to this Agreement, Kelley agreed to purchase and First Security agreed to convey title to certain property situated at 320 West Snows Lane, Park City, Utah ("Subject Property"). (R.14)

There were several addenda to the Agreement which altered the Agreement only by extending the time for closing. In the first addendum to the Agreement, the parties agreed to extend the closing to April 20, 1987. (R.18) Thereafter, the parties extended the closing date to on or before June 1, 1987 (R.19); on or before July 1, 1987 (R.20); on or before August 31, 1987 (R.21). By letter dated September 4, 1987, the closing date was extended to September 15, 1987 (R.114); by letter dated September 14, 1987, the time for closing was extended until September 22, 1987 (R.116).

## 2. The Terms Of The Agreement.

The parties bargained for the following terms in their Agreement:

a) The property is sold "as is" without warranty with title to be conveyed by special warranty deed. (R.16)

b) Agreement is conditioned on seller furnishing good and marketable title to the property as evidenced by a current policy of title insurance. (R.16 ¶3)

c) Seller to provide a current certified survey of the property. (R.18)

d) In the event of a title problem, Buyer is to give Seller written notice of his objections to title.

Thereafter, Seller is required to cure the defects to which Buyer has objected, if such can be done through escrow at closing. If the defects are not curable through an escrow agreement at closing, the Buyer has the option of waiving the defects and proceeding with the closing or he may require the Seller to return the earnest money deposit and the Agreement will be null and void. (R.15 ¶G)

e) In the event there is loss or damage to the property between the date of the Agreement and the date of closing by reason of fire, vandalism, flood, earthquake, or acts of God, and the cost to repair such damage exceeds ten percent of the purchase price of the property, Buyer may either proceed with this transaction if Seller agrees in writing to repair or replace damaged property prior to closing, or declare this Agreement null and void. If damage to property is less than ten percent of the purchase price and Seller agrees in writing to repair or replace and does actually repair and replace damaged property prior to closing, this transaction shall proceed as agreed. (R.17 ¶P)

f) With regard to the extension of closing dates, time is of the essence of this Agreement. (R.17 ¶Q)

g) This instrument constitutes the entire Agreement of the parties. (R.17 ¶L)

### 3. The Dispute.

At the time this Agreement was executed, both Kelley and First Security understood the Subject Property to include land which was enclosed by fences, a stream, a spring and a pond. (R.276) Shortly after the Agreement was executed, First Security, in accordance with the Agreement, had a survey conducted of the Subject Property. Through this survey, First Security discovered that the Quit-Claim Deed by which it claimed its interest in the property contained an erroneous property description which did not coincide with the natural boundaries of the property. (R.143) This faulty property description was a result of a prior erroneous survey and previous conveyances of the property incorporating the description from the erroneous survey. (R.81, 150) The result of this erroneous description was that the boundary shifted approximately 15.22 feet to the south such that neither the spring, the stream nor the pond would be included in the conveyance contemplated by the Agreement. (R.143)

In addition, First Security believes that one or more of the adjacent landowners came on the property and sawed off a pipe supplying water to the pond located on the property and removed fish from the pond. (R.82) Consequently, the pond virtually dried up and the water feeding the pond from the pipe has been diverted from the property. (R.82)

First Security attempted to resolve these problems with the landowners of the adjacent property, but was unable to do so through negotiation. (R.357) Accordingly, First Security commenced a lawsuit against the landowners to recover for damages to the property, to compel the determination of any claims adverse to First Security's title, to establish correct boundaries, to quiet title to, and to obtain a declaration of First Security's rights with respect to the property. (R.23-59) It became clear, however, that the adjacent landowners would not resolve the dispute without substantial litigation which First Security was unwilling to undertake without reimbursement from Kelley. (R.114-15)

#### 4. The Termination Of The Agreement.

By August 31, 1987, the last closing date mutually agreed to by the parties, neither party had performed nor tendered performance under the Agreement. (R.359) On September 4, 1987, First Security sent Kelley a letter

indicating that resolution of the boundary dispute and property damage could not be done through negotiation but, rather, would require substantial litigation. (R.114-15) Accordingly, First Security offered Kelley the options bargained for in the Agreement in the event of a dispute rendering title to the property unmarketable or in the case of damage to property prior to closing. Namely, Kelley could either waive the defects and proceed to closing or First Security would return the earnest money deposit. (R.114-15; R.15 ¶G; R.17 ¶P) Under these terms, the closing was scheduled for September 15, 1987, and, at Kelley's request, later extended until September 22, 1987. (R.114-15, 116)

On September 22, 1987, however, Kelley declined to close under either of the options provided in the letter as required by the Agreement. (R.119-21) Instead, Kelley tendered the down payment in escrow, and stated that such tender was conditioned on First Security resolving the boundary dispute, rectifying the property damage, and clearing title prior to closing. (R.120) A copy of Kelley's tender is Appendix 2 to this brief. Thereafter, First Security orally offered to extend the closing deadline to October 8, 1987, if, in accordance with the Agreement, Kelley desired to purchase the property "as is." (R.296) Kelley refused this offer, however, stating that First Security was obligated to resolve

the disputes and then convey the property to Kelley. (R.297) Inasmuch as First Security was unable to repair or replace the damaged property, and because Kelley did not waive the defects in the title and close the sale on or before September 22, 1987, but rather, made his tender of down payment conditional, First Security executed a release of Kelley's earnest money deposit on September 24, 1987. (R.122-25)

Kelley filed this action on September 22, 1987, requesting an order of the Court that First Security was obligated to resolve the boundary dispute, repair or replace the property, and then convey the property to Kelley. (R.7)

5. The Sale Of The Subject Property To Leucadia.

On September 25, 1987, First Security received an earnest money offer to purchase the Subject Property from Leucadia, and began negotiating a purchase and sale agreement with Leucadia. (R.362) On November 2, 1987, First Security and Leucadia entered into a binding Earnest Money Sales Agreement for the sale of the Subject Property. (R.362) On November 25, 1987, the Subject Property was sold to Leucadia. (R.362)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Utah Supreme Court has held that an unconditional tender of performance is a prerequisite to an action for specific performance. In this action, First Security argues that the lower court erred in ordering specific performance of

the Agreement because Kelley's tender of performance was conditional on First Security providing a remedy not required by the Agreement. Moreover, Kelley failed to make an adequate tender prior to the expiration of the Agreement on its own terms. Accordingly, the lower court's order of specific performance of the Agreement is erroneous, as a matter of law.

#### ARGUMENT

In reviewing a case disposed of in the District Court by summary judgment, the reviewing court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and affirm the decision only where it appears there is no genuine dispute as to any material issues of fact, or where, even according to the facts as contended by the losing party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Themy v. Seagull Enter., Inc., 595 P.2d 526 (Utah 1979). In this action, the facts are undisputed. Appellant's contention is that the District Court erred as a matter of law in ordering specific performance of the Agreement.

#### I. AN UNCONDITIONAL TENDER OF PERFORMANCE IS A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO A DECREE OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

On several occasions, the Utah Supreme Court has considered under what circumstances a tender of performance is sufficient for purposes of ordering specific performance of a contract. In response to this query, the Utah Supreme Court



has repeatedly and consistently held that a complete and unconditional tender is a prerequisite to an action for specific performance.

In Baxter v. Camelot Properties, Inc., 622 P.2d 808 (Utah 1981), for example, a purchaser brought an action for specific performance of a purchase agreement involving two condominium units entered into between the parties in May, 1977. The terms of the initial purchase agreement were that the buyer was to make a cash down payment of 10% and to obtain a mortgage loan for the remaining 90%. 622 P.2d 809. The date of the closing was left open. In October, 1978, the seller requested that the purchaser complete the purchase within the next ten days by depositing the 10% down payment and making application for the 90% loan. Plaintiff did not comply with this letter, but proposed several alternative offers, none of which was accepted by the defendant. Id.

Thereafter, the plaintiff made two "tenders of performance." In January, 1979, the plaintiff tendered the 10% down payment but did not state whether she had made application for the loan for the additional 90%; defendant did not respond to this tender. Id. In February, 1979, plaintiff tendered more money for the two units and required seller to carry a contract for 90% of the sales price; defendant did not respond to this tender. 622 P.2d 810. Thereafter, plaintiff brought

an action for specific performance of the original agreement. The Court held that the plaintiff did not tender the performance required by the terms of the agreement and, accordingly, specific performance was denied. 622 P.2d at 811.

The following year, the Utah Supreme Court explained why a conditional tender, that is one not in conformance with the terms of the agreement, is inadequate as a matter of law for purposes of bringing an action to compel performance:

[With respect to] a contract . . . which contemplates simultaneous performance by both parties, such as the Earnest Money agreement involved in this case, neither party can be said to be in default (and thus susceptible to a judgment for damages or a decree for specific performance) until the other party has tendered his own performance. . . . In other words, the party who desires to use legal process to exercise his legal remedies under such a contract must make a tender of his own agreed performance in order to put the other party in default. . . . To qualify under this rule, a tender, such as an offer to pay money, must be complete and unconditional.

Century 21 All Western Real Estate & Inv., Inc. v. Webb, 645 P.2d 52, 56 (Utah 1982) (citations omitted; emphasis added). See also Zion's Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319 (Utah 1975) (a tender requires that there be a bona fide, unconditional, offer of payment of the amount of money due, coupled with an actual production of the money or its equivalent); Fischer v. Johnson, 525 P.2d 45 (Utah 1974) (to claim specific performance, a party must either perform or

tender performance in accordance with the covenants in the contract.)

In this case, Kelley's "tender" was not in accordance with the terms of the Agreement between the parties. The Agreement clearly provided the options open to the purchaser in the event the title to the property was unmarketable: Where the defects in title were not curable through an escrow agreement at closing (e.g., paying money to release liens or other encumbrances), the purchaser could either waive the defects and close the sale, or his earnest money deposit would be returned and the Agreement declared null and void. (R.15 ¶G) Similarly, the options available to the purchaser in the event of property damage caused by vandalism were provided by the Agreement: If the seller agrees to repair or replace the damaged property the buyer may, at his option, either proceed to closing or declare the Agreement null and void. (R.17 ¶P)

Yet in this case, Kelley's tender was expressly conditioned on First Security resolving the boundary dispute, clearing title, and repairing or replacing the damaged property prior to closing, even though Kelley had knowledge that substantial litigation was required to do so. (R.120) Clearly, such a tender was not made in accordance with the provisions in the Agreement; rather, it was conditioned on

First Security undertaking obligations not provided for in the Agreement and over which First Security had no control.

By this Agreement, the parties stipulated to what the remedy would be in case of the failure or inability of First Security to provide merchantable title. Such a stipulation is binding, at least in the absence of bad faith. E.g., Lanna v. Greene, 175 Conn. 453, 399 A.2d 837, 842 (1978); Scerbo v. Robinson, 63 App.Div.2d 1096, 406 N.Y.S.2d 370, 371 (1978); Robison v. Compton, 97 Idaho 615, 549 P.2d 274, 276 (1976). First Security never contemplated assuming the obligation to cure defects to title that could not be cured through escrow -- either before closing, as demonstrated by paragraph G of the Agreement, or after closing, as demonstrated by its inserting the "as is" and "without warranty" and "title conveyed by special warranty deed" language. By annexing an unwarranted condition to his tender of performance, Kelley in effect refused to perform. See Gerritsen v. Draney, 351 P.2d 667, 673 (Wyo. 1960) (a tender made not in conformity with the contract is the same as if no tender is made at all); Johnson v. Goldberg, 130 Cal.App.2d 571, 279 P.2d 131 (1955) (conditional tender of performance is a refusal to perform).

The parties also, by this Agreement, stipulated to what the remedy would be in the event of property damage caused by vandalism. First Security had no obligation to repair or

replace the damaged property. Rather, the Agreement provided that if First Security had the ability to repair the damage and in fact did repair the damage, then Kelley could proceed with the Agreement. However where, as in this case, the correction of the damaged property was out of First Security's hands, the only obligation First Security had was to allow for the termination of the Agreement by its terms. Again, Kelley's tender of performance was not in conformance with the Agreement and, therefore, in effect was a refusal to perform.

Gerritsen, 351 P.2d at 673; Johnson, 279 P.2d at 131.

First Security, as a matter of law, was not obligated to accept Kelley's tender of performance requiring First Security to provide a remedy and undertake obligations not required by the Agreement. In turn, Kelley's conditional tender, as a matter of law, was deficient and therefore an insufficient basis to enable Kelley to bring an action in specific performance. The District Court's order of specific performance should be reversed.

## II. WHERE TIME IS THE ESSENCE OF THE AGREEMENT FAILURE TO TENDER BY THE CLOSING DATE DESTROYS RIGHT TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

The second question presented by this appeal, whether specific performance is appropriate where the Agreement terminated because the transaction was not closed nor adequate

tender made by the agreed upon date, has also been expressly considered by the Utah Supreme Court. To this question, the Court has stated that where time is made the essence of the agreement, the parties must make tender by the stated closing date or both parties will be discharged from their obligations.

In Century 21 All Western Real Estate & Inv., Inc. v. Webb, 645 P.2d 52 (Utah 1982), as in this case, the purchasers brought an action against the seller of real property seeking specific performance of the sale of the seller's home pursuant to an earnest money receipt and offer to purchase agreement signed by the parties. 645 P.2d at 54. After the contract was signed but prior to closing, the buyers learned of an encumbrance on the property. The buyers insisted that the encumbrance be satisfied prior to closing, although under the terms of their contract, such a demand was not the buyer's right. 645 P.2d at 55. The parties had agreed upon a closing date of December 22; neither party made a tender of performance on or before that date. 645 P.2d at 54. However, on January 9, 1979, the buyer advised the seller they were "ready and willing to close on this transaction" provided the seller cleared the encumbrance. 645 P.2d at 54-55.

The court noted that the tender was, in that situation, made within the contract period; the court reasoned that in cases where the executory contract contains no

declaration that time is of the essence, the contract obligations can continue for some time beyond the stated closing date. However, the court made clear this holding was limited to situations in which there is no time of essence agreement between the parties:

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