1988

William R. Kelley, Jr. v. Leucadia Financial Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

b. On May 28, 1987, First Security again requested that the closing date be extended to July 1, 1987. Kelley agreed to the request. (R.20)

c. On July 6, 1987 -- five days after the extant closing date had expired -- First Security again requested that the closing date be extended, this time to August 31, 1987. Kelley agreed to the request. (R.21)

d. First Security was unable to informally resolve the boundary and water problems with the Armstrongs and on July 10, 1987, it filed a Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court, entitled First Security Mortgage Co. v. Herbert S. Armstrong, et al., Civil No. 9447 (the "Armstrong Suit").

First Security sought the following relief: (1) quiet title to the Property and correction of the erroneous legal description so that the property description would match the natural boundaries; (2) a declaration that First Security was the fee simple owner of all water rights appurtenant to the Property; (3) damages resulting from drainage of the trout pond; (4) punitive damages in the amount of \$50,000; and (5) attorneys' fees, costs and expenses. (R.23-59)

e. In its Complaint, First Security claimed that because of the erroneous legal description, it could not convey marketable title to the Property and that the Property's value had been substantially reduced, both aesthetically and economically, because of the loss of the stream, spring and trout pond. (R.29-31)

f. Throughout this period, First Security told Kelley that it was not necessary for him to retain Utah counsel. (R.289)

4. The Dispute Between Kelley and First Security.

a. On September 4, 1987, First Security's attorney, Craig Taylor, Esq., sent a letter to Kelley demanding that the sale close by September 15, 1987, or First Security would consider the Agreement to be null and void. First Security also informed Kelley for the first time that he should obtain legal counsel. (R.114-15) Before he received the September 4

letter, Kelley was under the impression that First Security was doing its best, including filing the Armstrong Suit, to clear up the boundary and water problems. (R.277-78)

b. The September 4 letter was sent over the Labor Day weekend and Kelley, a resident of Hull, Massachusetts, did not receive it until September 8, 1987. (R.278)

c. On September 9, Kelley retained David R. Olsen, Esq., of the firm of Suitter Axland Armstrong & Hanson, to serve as his counsel in his transaction with First Security. (R.278) On that day, Kelley sent a telegram to First Security stating that he did not want to walk away from the Property and that he needed a customary 30-day extension before he could close. (R.288-89)

d. Kelley's Utah counsel immediately contacted First Security's counsel. First Security agreed to provide all of the documents concerning the boundary and water problems for review so that Kelley could make an informed decision regarding the Property. An appointment was made for the production of those documents. (R.282-83)

e. On September 10, 1987, Dan W. Egan, Esq., of Suitter Axland Armstrong & Hanson, went to First Security's counsel's office to obtain copies of all documents in First Security's possession concerning the boundary and water problems. Mr. Taylor failed to keep the appointment. (R.282-83)

f. As a result of his failure to keep the appointment with Mr. Egan, Mr. Taylor extended the deadline for closing to September 22, 1987. (R.116) The requested documents were not provided by that date; nevertheless, Kelley wired approximately \$124,000 into an account at Williamsburg Savings Bank so that the necessary funds would be available for the closing. (R.278-80) Kelley's attorney informed Taylor by letter that Kelley was ready, willing and able to close the Agreement, that the funds necessary for the down payment were on deposit with Williamsburg Savings Bank and he demanded that First Security perform as agreed. (R.119-21)

g. On September 22, 1987, this action was filed seeking a declaration of the rights of the parties pursuant to the Agreement and a decree of specific performance requiring First Security to convey the Property subject to Kelley's claim for damages. (R.1-62) A Lis Pendens was filed the same day. The escrow funds were subsequently deposited with the Summit County Clerk. (R.68)

h. On September 22, 1987, First Security declared the Agreement null and void and, on September 24, 1987, executed the release of Kelley's \$10,000 earnest money deposit. (R.122-23) Kelley refused to accept the release.

i. On September 25, 1987, Leucadia offered to purchase the Property from First Security. The earnest money

Agreement between Leucadia and First Security, as amended, provides in part: (1) that Leucadia would pay a purchase price of \$675,000, cash upon closing; (2) that if Leucadia purchased the Property, First Security would "use its best efforts to obtain a settlement, dismissal with prejudice or final judgment" in the lawsuit with Kelley in First Security's favor; (3) that if First Security lost the lawsuit, and the Property was conveyed to Kelley, that First Security would indemnify Leucadia for all of its costs and expenses incurred as a result of its purchase of the Property; and (4) that if Leucadia were brought into this lawsuit by the plaintiff or any other party, First Security would pay Leucadia's litigation costs, including attorneys' fees. (R.312, 493-514)

j. On January 10, 1988, the trial court entered an Order granting Kelley's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and ordering First Security to convey the Property. The court retained jurisdiction over Kelley's claim to an abatement of the purchase price, damages and attorneys' fees. The conveyance was ordered to occur when final judgment was entered in this action. (R.562-64)

k. On May 6, 1988, Final Judgment was entered. (R.815-24) First Security accepted the moneys deposited with the court and conveyed the Property that it owned to Kelley by special warranty deed and the 15.22 foot discrepancy caused by

the erroneously legal description by quit-claim deed. (See Appendix "A," attached hereto.)

1. On June 3, 1988, Leucadia was substituted as defendant in this action and filed this appeal. (R.844-46, 847-49)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kelley submits that the trial court did not err in granting his motion for Partial Summary Judgment ordering First Security to specifically perform the Agreement to the extent that it could perform, while reserving Kelley's claim for an abatement in the purchase price and/or damages for trial.

Leucadia argues that the trial court's decision granting a decree of specific performance to Kelley should be reversed on the ground that Kelley's tender was untimely and/or ineffective.

As will be demonstrated below, Kelley's tender was neither untimely nor ineffective. In fact, it was unnecessary. The undisputed facts before the trial court concerning the conduct of the parties mandated a holding that the "time is of the essence" provision was waived. As such, First Security, before it could claim that Kelley had breached the Agreement, was not only required to provide Kelley notice and a reasonable time to close, but also to tender its own performance. The undisputed facts showed that the seven days provided by First Security was

unreasonable -- these facts were untraversed below. Thus, Kelley was not in breach of the Agreement when he deposited his down payment into court and, through his Complaint, asked the Court to require First Security to convey whatever property it owned that was subject to the Agreement and interpret whether the Agreement required First Security to convey the property free of the water and boundary problems. If so, Kelley would be entitled to an abatement of the purchase price; if not, the full purchase price would be paid.

Alternatively, Kelley claims that First Security could not convey marketable title which was required by the Agreement. First Security's inability to perform, relieved Kelley of the duty to tender his performance.

Third, the "tender" attacked by Leucadia is not ineffective because it is conditional. It merely demanded First Security to perform as it had agreed to perform, that is, convey marketable title to the Property with all the pertinent water rights. It was submitted in conjunction with the filing of a lawsuit which asked the court to interpret the Agreement and structure the appropriate decree.

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal must be viewed in light of the interests of Leucadia. It is not being pursued by First Security -- First Security accepted the judgment below by accepting the money deposited with the Clerk of the Court and delivering its deeds to Kelley. Rather, the appeal is being pursued by Leucadia-- an interloper whose contract reveals that it took its interest in the Property with express and full notice of Kelley's prior rights. More importantly, it entered into a deal where it has nothing to lose.

Leucadia's contract with First Security specifically provides that Leucadia will be fully indemnified for any losses, including attorneys' fees, engineering fees, costs and interest, if Kelley prevails in this lawsuit. Leucadia also delegated the duty to pursue the lawsuit to First Security.

Leucadia's contract was so precise that it designated the interest rate to be paid on all indemnified funds as the prime interest rate as was charged from time to time by Chase Manhattan Bank during the same time period. It is with this background that Leucadia seeks to disrupt the lives of the Kelley family and continue with litigation which the parties below wished to end.

The arguments raised by Leucadia seek to divert this court's attention from the import of what really happened below. What has never been disputed is that Bill Kelley wanted to move his family to Utah. He found property he liked, he paid for it and he was willing to fight for it. His financial ability was never at issue -- it couldn't be because his money was on deposit with the court. Nor has it ever been disputed that Kelley relied on the Agreement with First Security to his detriment since he liquidated assets to meet the down payment.

Instead of addressing these issues, Leucadia attempts to elevate the chaos created by First Security to a justifiable excuse for First Security's dishonoring of the Kelley Agreement and taking a better deal.

First Security encountered a problem with marketable title and couldn't deliver what it had agreed to deliver. It told Kelley not to retain a lawyer and attempted to solve the problem without his assistance or input. After over five months of failure, First Security tried to pass the problem on to Kelley and demanded that he give up his rights to question whether First Security had honored its Agreement. Even under these circumstances, Kelley was willing to pay the price and take the Property. He sought only to have the court determine through a declaratory judgment action if First Security's unilateral interpretation of the Agreement was correct. If it wasn't

correct, Kelley sought the appropriate adjustment to the purchase price; if it was, Kelley would pay the full purchase price.

In its effort to champion rights which the parties to the Agreement have long since resolved, Leucadia conducts a somewhat misleading discussion of the "tender letter." It focuses on one sentence and seeks to disregard every other word of the letter as well as the facts of the transaction. The letter is three pages and it was delivered in conjunction with the filing of the Complaint. It recites the history of the transaction and discusses the missed appointments and First Security's failure to deliver promised deeds and closing documents. It states that the closing date is unreasonable and petitions First Security for a reasonable time period within which to close. That is the substance of the letter.

The letter cannot be separated from the Complaint which was filed on the same date. The Complaint seeks to have the court -- not First Security -- determine the meaning of the Agreement and award judgment consistent with its interpretation. There was no risk to First Security because the required down payment was placed under the control of the court to distribute consistent with its judgment. It is difficult to imagine a situation where the right to have the court interpret an Agreement is more appropriate. Kelley's rights would have been lost or compromised if he closed pursuant to First Security's demand

since the Agreement specifically provided that its terms were merged into the deed. Kelley showed his willingness to close by giving the court control of the \$124,000 down payment.

If Mr. Kelley cannot petition a court for assistance under these circumstances, the remedy of a declaratory judgment is meaningless. The mighty's judgment becomes infallible because the time, expense and risks of litigation allow those in Mr. Kelley's situation to be bludgeoned into submission. This is not a policy the law should promote. For these and the reasons discussed below, the trial court's decision was guided by common sense and fairness and was correct under the law.

II.

EVEN THOUGH THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN KELLEY AND FIRST SECURITY STATED THAT "TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE," THIS PROVISION WAS WAIVED BY THE CONDUCT OF THE PARTIES.

Time is of the essence in a land sale contract only if the parties so intend. That intention, or the lack thereof, may be demonstrated by a contract provision or by the circumstances of the transaction. Barker v. Francis, 741 P.2d 548 (Utah Ct. App. 1987), citing, Century 21 All Western Real Estate v. Webb, 645 P.2d 52 (Utah 1982); Cahoon v. Cahoon, 641 P.2d 140 (Utah 1982); Huck v. Hayes, 560 P.2d 1124 (Utah 1977). It follows that a specified time for performance may be waived by the conduct of the parties, thereby indicating that time is

not of the essence -- despite a contrary contract provision. Huck v. Hayes, 560 P.2d at 1126; Cline v. Hullum, 435 P.2d 152 (Okla. 1967).

For example, in Schwoyer v. Fenstermacher, 380 A.2d 468 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1977), the sales agreement stated that time was of the essence; however, because the title searches were incomplete by the closing date, the parties extended the closing date for six weeks. At the end of the six weeks, the title searches were still incomplete. When the seller was told of the new delay, he didn't object. When the title searches were completed nearly two months later, the seller informed the purchasers that the agreement was "null and void." Id. at 470. The court held that the seller had waived the provision that time was of the essence:

Even though the agreement of sale makes time of "the essence of the contract" this provision may be waived by agreement or by the conduct of the parties. . . . We find that appellant's [seller's] actions demonstrated that she "affirmatively assented" to settlement being held at some date later than January 14, depending on when Merkel [the attorney conducting the title searches] completed the title searches.

Id. at 470.

First Security waived the "time is of the essence" provision when it asked for and Kelley granted three successive extensions of the closing date -- two of which were offered and accepted after the closing date had expired. Throughout the

period when First Security asked for extensions in order to resolve the boundary and water problems, the parties intended to carry out the terms of the Agreement for sale of the Property as soon as the problems were remedied. First Security even advised Kelley that it was unnecessary for him to retain counsel. Thus, Leucadia's "time is of essence" argument supporting First Security's termination of the Agreement is unsupported.

III.
BECAUSE THE "TIME IS OF ESSENCE" PROVISION
WAS WAIVED, FIRST SECURITY WAS REQUIRED TO
GIVE KELLEY A REASONABLE TIME IN WHICH TO PERFORM

After compliance with the closing date is waived, the time for closing becomes indefinite and the party seeking performance must give notice and a reasonable period of time for the other party to perform before the Agreement is breached.

In Tanner v. Baadsgaard, 612 P.2d 345 (Utah 1980), plaintiff (the assignee of the purchasers) sued for specific performance of a contract for the sale of undeveloped property. The plaintiff, over a period of several months, attempted to arrange financing for the purchase. During this period, several payments due under the contract were not made. Plaintiff informed the vendor several times of the assignment of the original purchaser's interest and of the fact that the plaintiff was having difficulty with financing and the defendant didn't complain about the delay. When the plaintiff finally arranged financing and

informed the vendor so that a closing date could be arranged, the vendor told plaintiff that he planned to sell the property to a third party and that he would not accept any money from the plaintiff. The Utah Supreme Court upheld the trial court's finding that:

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